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Eastinco Mining and Exploration Plc CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT 
 YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 
Dear Shareholder,  
 

2020 was a year of investment, development and COVID-related operational delays for Eastinco Mining 

and Exploration Plc (“EME” or “Eastinco”) specifically at our Musasa mine site which is operated by our 

Rwandan registered, 100% owned subsidiary company, Eastinco Limited (“EME Ltd”).  

It has been an extremely challenging year for EME and everyone globally, as we live and operate in 

unprecedented times. Our priority and responsibility have, and will continue to be ensuring the safety 

and well-being of our on-site team; and so we closely follow the national and local authority health 

guidelines as mandated by government authorities.  

Amidst the various lockdowns and restrictions which have slowed our development at the Musasa mine, 

we nevertheless believe that a significant milestone was achieved with the completion of the wash plant 

assembly in Q4 2020.   

Importantly, we significantly improved our operational and acquisitional capability with the addition of 

Mr. Simon Rollason as the Chief Executive Officer from the 2nd November 2020. Mr. Rollason made 

significant contributions to the Company's progress with both the Musasa and Huye sites in Rwanda 

and we look forward to his contribution as we develop and progress on our corporate strategy. 

Financial Review  

During the period under review the Group made a loss before taxation of  £466,687 (2019: loss £846,320 

as restated).  

In June (and November 2020) we announced to shareholders that Eastinco had received approximately 

£997,000 of consideration in the form of cash and services with approximately £767,000 in cash.  

Additionally, we announced the suspension of cash salary payments to EME and EME Ltd management 

teams to preserve cash.  These efforts have served the company and its viability well as Covid related 

restrictions and their impact have significantly impacted on EME Ltd’s ability to begin full scale 

operations.   

The Company had anticipated revenue generation would have begun in 2020. Unfortunately due to a 

number of important processing changes required to optimise efficiency, the Musasa mine revenues 

have been delayed.  We have adjusted our accounting procedures relating to invested capital on site 

and capitalised the expenditure relating to the mine wash plant.  Upon the start of operations we will be 

depreciating this investment on a straight line basis over expected capital lifetimes.  As a result we have 

adjusted prior year accounts to be consistent in our approach and the accounts reflect these changes. 

Post Balance Sheet Events 

In May 2021 we are able to bring external processing consultants onto the mine site which resulted in 

several process flow changes and equipment modification recommendations. We have ordered 

additional slurry pumps as per the recommendations, for the recycling of material for improved recovery 

rates. Delivery of the equipment is pending, and in the interim, we have taken the decision to temporarily 

suspend processing any additional material until the new system configuration is completed. 

In June 2021 we announced a new Joint Venture Agreement to explore and develop exciting new 

mineral opportunities in southern Rwanda. The licence covering 2,750 hectares, hosts at least two 

identified outcropping mineralised occurrences available for immediate geological evaluation. These 

known pegmatites form an encouraging exploration target with considerable upside exploration potential 

if the tantalum grade distribution along the strike and depth extensions can be proven. 
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Eastinco Mining and Exploration Plc CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (continued) 
 YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 

COVID-19 Statement 

In March 2020, Rwanda’s Office of the Prime Minister, in response to the emerging global pandemic, 

suspended mining operations in Rwanda and imposed strict lockdown measures which included the 

restriction of movement across district boundaries and closing of the airport and land borders. These 

measures were eased in late Q3 but restrictions remain in place through mid 2021.  

The safety and wellbeing of EME’s employees is the highest priority for the Company at this time. The 

management of EME continues to actively monitor the situation and local government guidance being 

given as it evolves. We are working, in some cases remotely, to progress operations and discussions to 

ensure that we protect and advance the long-term value of our Company and the interests of our 

stakeholders. 

Strategic shift 

EME is an investment company focussed on African mineral resource investment opportunities. Our 

objective is to create and build a critical and strategic mineral development company to meet the 

expected shortfall in the supply of “green” metals required to fill the global demand for renewable energy 

sources and decarbonisation targets. We will continue to review and evaluate new opportunities that will 

allow us to meet these goals and objectives.   

Director Changes 

Mike Staten resigned as an Executive Director; and subsequently, Simon Rollason joined the Board of 

Directors as a Director and the company’s CEO. 

Outlook 

I remain firmly optimistic for the Company’s prospects going forward. We are working towards building 

a strong asset portfolio of metals with strong underlying market fundamentals. The business model in 

Rwanda is to work with our partners to modernise, mechanise and improve mine efficiencies, and to 

significantly upgrade the current safety standards and practices. The assets in Rwanda are growing and 

capable of being brought into production quickly, within a few years with modest capital expenditure, 

whereas typical mines can take 5-7 years to commence production. This bodes well as we gain valuable 

experience and a stronger working relationship with the various stakeholders in the Rwandan mining 

industry. 

We expect that the critical and strategic metals sector will have a strong future as demand for these 

technology metals grows in parallel with the growth of renewable energy sources and electric vehicles 

While the prevailing Covid-19 pandemic continues to present a number of challenges, most notably the 

Company, workers, and advisors' ability to travel to key sites, we believe that we have put policies and 

procedures in place to cope with many of these challenges and continue to believe that progress will be 

made during the year ahead. 

On behalf of the Company, I would like to take this opportunity to thank my fellow Board members, and 

I would like to personally thank our shareholders for their continued support and patience.  

Most sincerely, 

 
Charles G Bray 

Chairman 
Date: 17 August 2021 
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Eastinco Mining and Exploration Plc STRATEGIC REPORT 
 YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 

Principal Activities 

The Company operates through its 100% owned subsidiary, Eastinco Limited (“EME Ltd”), a Rwandan 

tantalum, tin, and tungsten miner.  EME Ltd operates a surface mine in conjunction with its partner, 

Kuaka Cooperative close to the eastern shore of Lake Kivu, close to the village of Musasa, in western 

Rwanda.  

The Company and its subsidiary businesses explore, mine, and develop natural resource production 

operations. 

The strategy is to increase productivity and efficiency, whilst improving safety at existing and formerly 

operating artisanal mine sites to generate cash flow, which can be then deployed on new and existing 

areas of exploration thereby minimising capital risk to shareholders and preserving optionality, and 

generating superior risk mitigated returns. 

Strategic Plan 

The EME Strategic plan incorporates a business model based on stakeholder’s interests, business or 

commercial planning, and growth.  Effectively combining the interests of all stakeholders allows for us 

to competently execute plans promoting the company’s best commercial interests and allow for future 

growth. 

Group Overview 

Aim  Strategy  Principal Activities 

Increase shareholder value 
through the discovery and 
development of valuable 

mineral deposits. 

 Build, explore and develop a 
pipeline of projects to expand 

and de-risk the project 
portfolio 

 The identification, acquisition, 
exploration and development 

of mineral deposits, with a 
focus on Critical Metals, 

initially in Rwanda 

Operational Statement, 2020 

Introduction  

Eastinco, through its 100 percent owned Rwandan registered subsidiary Eastinco Limited, is actively 

engaged in mineral exploration and development of so-called rare or critical metals in Rwanda. 

Eastinco has an Operating Agreement (“Agreement”) with the Kuaka Cooperative (“Kuaka”), the holders 

of a small-scale mining licence in western Rwanda. Under the terms of the Agreement, Eastinco has 

funded the acquisition of a mechanised wash plant, heavy earth moving equipment and is now 

responsible for managing on-site operations. Eastinco will retain an 85% share in the net operating 

profits with the right to purchase 100% of the Ta-Nb produced at favourable local market prices.  

In the post-reporting period Eastinco, in partnership with Kuaka, has applied for a new mining licence in 

the name of the Joint Venture Company, Musasa Mining Limited, which expands the area under licence 

from 50 to 400 hectares. The shareholding of this Rwandan registered company will be the same as for 

the Operating Agreement, with Eastinco holding 85% of the shares and the Kuaka 15%.   

In late February 2020, the Company announced the signing of a second Joint Venture Agreement to 

explore for tantalum, tin, and tungsten over a 400-hectare licence held by the Rwandan registered 

partner company. This is called the Huye Project and represents a greenfield exploration site located in 

southern Rwanda, where previous artisanal mining has been largely absent.  
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Eastinco Mining and Exploration Plc STRATEGIC REPORT (continued) 
 YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 

Project Review 

The principal project of the Company is the partnership and Operating Agreement with the Kuaka 

Cooperative, and their Musasa Ta-Sn project located close to Lake Kivu in Western Rwanda. 

Both the Musasa Mine and the Huye Project, in the south, lie within the Western Domain of the Meso- 

to Paleoproterozoic Karagwe-Ankole Belt, which is composed of metasedimentary units with minor 

metavolcanic rocks (±1,450 – 1,000 Ma). These units have been intruded by a series of granites (G1 to 

G4), the oldest (G1) have been dated at 1.38 Ga. The regional Ta-Nb-Sn-W mineralised zones are 

intimately associated with the emplacement of the youngest post-orogenic (Late-Kibaran), so-called ‘tin 

granites’, also referred to as the G4 granites.  

Musasa Mine – the Kuaka Cooperative Partnership 

The current licence covers an area of 50 hectares with tantalum (plus niobium) and tin mineralisation 

hosted by soft, weathered, and altered pegmatite dykes, with later cross-cutting quartz veins typically 

hosting tin mineralisation. There is no evidence of previous mechanical mining nor modern processing, 

with over 200 small artisanal workings, mainly small narrow, 1-2m wide sub-vertical shafts, identified, 

some extending to measured depths of +80m below the surface.  

Four target zones, each with clusters of mineralised pegmatite, are known over the licence, with initial 

operations focussing on the Rich Back Zone, which lies c.400m from the newly constructed wash plant. 

This zone has at least 12 identified individual pegmatites which vary in strike length from 50m up to 

250m, and with widths between 1.5m and 10m.  

Unavoidable COVID-related delays in 2020 and early 2021, outside of our control, were encountered 

with the delivery of some components of the wash plant. We managed to maintain an on-site skeleton 

crew during the lockdown, in compliance with government regulations, who successfully completed the 

basic plant equipment assembly during this period.  

The gravity separation wash plant is rated at a 25 tonnes per hour feed rate and consists of a rotary 

wash trommel, cone crusher, hydrocyclone, separation spirals, duplex jigs, shaking tables, rotary 

trommel dryer, dewatering screens and a dry high-intensity magnetic separation unit. This is supported 

by ancillary works which include tailings settling ponds, a holding tank for plant process water, 

construction of the access road to the start-up mining area, acquisition of the land where the operations 

will start in accordance with government guidelines, construction of a pumping station on the nearby 

stream, and connection to the mainline electrical power grid. The manufacturer’s engineers have been 

unable to visit the site to assist with the build and commissioning process, and much of the construction 

and test work has been completed in-house. External consultants are being sourced and will access the 

site when COVID restrictions permit. A large capacity water pump, ordered from the UK, arrived in late 

December.  

Testing of the wash plant continued until year-end and identified a number of areas that required 

modifications to improve water and product flow. Significantly, the preliminary test work has indicated 

that the Company is able to recover part of the fine to very fine grain size portion (sub 1 mm) of the 

mineralisation, which is in line with the recent Government mandate to improve overall metal recoveries 

within the mining sector. However additional work is required to improve the fines capture. External 

analysis conducted in Slovenia of a shaking table pre-concentrate returned values of 10.3% Ta, which 

is highly encouraging. Further test work is underway at the University of Ljubljana to determine the 

mineral composition of the pre-concentrate from the shaking tables and the chemical composition of the 

coltan mineralogy. 
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Eastinco Mining and Exploration Plc STRATEGIC REPORT (continued) 

 YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 

The final tantalum product will initially be sold in-country, where a number of international metal buying 

companies are established and have operated for a number of years. Tantalum prices remain stable 

with increases experienced in 2021 expected to hold over the short to medium term. A recent post 

reporting period event was the signing of a Letter of Intent (“LOI”) with a subsidiary of multi-national 

Noble Group Holdings, who have expressed an interest to purchase a significant portion of the future 

tantalum and tin metal production from the Musasa operations over the next three years.  

Huye Project 

This is a 50/50 Joint Venture with a local partner, Dynasty Construction, who holds the exploration 

licence to 400 hectares located in southern Rwanda, close to the town of Huye. The ground is 

prospective for near-surface tantalite mineralisation, also hosted in weathered and altered pegmatite 

dykes. 

The licence is underlain by schists, and minor intrusives of the granitic-metamorphic Butare Complex, 

which occurs to the west of the Gitarama granitic massif. The Complex is surrounded by low-grade 

metasedimentary terrains and the Butare Complex is bordered to the north by a major NW-SE left-lateral 

shear zone, the Mwogo structure. 

There is no data or evidence to suggest any previous detail exploration in the area, and limited 

reconnaissance level geological traversing has identified 4 localities, where the presence of potentially 

mineralised pegmatite dykes was observed. Additional follow-up work is planned once COVID 

restrictions allow. Artisanal mining activity on the project is limited to occasional shallow pits, but nothing 

extensive as found in other areas of tantalum mineralisation within Rwanda.  

New Joint Venture – Southern Rwanda  

In June 2020, the Company announced a new Joint Venture agreement to explore and develop a new 

mineral opportunity in southern Rwanda. The licence area has encouraging elements of an existing 

pegmatite swarm, with 2 identified occurrences readily available for immediate geological prospecting 

and evaluation.  

The Company believes that given positive exploration results the new licence, coupled with the Huye 

Project comprises a significant new pegmatite field in Rwanda.  

The Business Model 

Our strategy is to develop a business model based on cooperation and seeking new partnerships with 

proven, profitable producers to improve production and health & safety while evaluating and acquiring 

new greenfield opportunities. By entering into joint venture agreements, which effectively pay royalties 

to the existing license holders, Eastinco can deploy capital on existing producing and profitable mines 

to significantly increase productivity while greatly improving safety standards. This strategy allows for 

the local community to secure the long-term future of the mine. 

By assuming operational control and providing the Cooperative held mining sites with working capital, 

health and safety oversight, and mechanised equipment, the opportunity exists to consolidate inefficient 

but producing and profitable small-scale mines to create a tin, tungsten, and tantalum mining stalwart in 

Central Africa. Relatively small capital expenditure on mechanisation, technology and safety equipment 

is needed to upgrade the sector to a safer and semi-mechanised state, and thereby significantly 

increasing production, which is low compared to the proven potential. 
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Eastinco Mining and Exploration Plc STRATEGIC REPORT (continued) 

 YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 

 

The Company remains active in identifying and evaluating further opportunities across a range of 

commodities and jurisdictions. The Company intends to achieve these goals while maintaining corporate 

governance principles in line with those outlined in the QCA Code. 

 

 
 

Corporate & Social Responsibility 

Our Communities  

EME is committed to being a responsible corporate body by managing the environmental and the social 

impact of our mining operations diligently and sensitively. Our strategy is to ensure that relations with 

national, regional, and local authorities, the local and broader community, and the environment are lead 

by transparency in our commercial activities, the appropriate degree of interaction with stakeholders and 

maximum responsibility and accountability in all our operations. 2020 was particularly important to our 

communities as we initiated significant changes to mining operations. The Company participates in a 

meaningful clean water programme to allow members of the local community to access a source of 

clean drinking water.  We also participated in community support programmes to help feed members of 

the community as Covid restrictions impacted on the local economy. 

Sustainable Development  

EME is committed to achieving development that provides benefits to those geographical areas in which 

we operate without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs both 

economically and environmentally. EME will endeavour to achieve continual excellence in 

environmental performance, abiding by all expected environmental standards and respecting the 

environment and the rights of our neighbours.  

Our People  

EME operates within a favourable framework for labour relations based on a non-discriminatory, equal 

opportunities employment system that respects diversity and facilitates communication at all levels of 

the Group. The Group provides a healthy and safe working environment by implementing the best 

available international practices and procedures. 
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Eastinco Mining and Exploration Plc STRATEGIC REPORT (continued) 

 YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 

Communication  

EME promotes and encourages the establishment of broad communication channels and continually 

seeks opportunities for conversation with its various stakeholders to ensure that business objectives 

remain in tune with social needs and expectations. The Company will always seek to provide relevant, 

transparent and accurate information about its activities and encourage continuous improvement in this 

area. 

In 2020 Eastinco, in coordination with local government agencies, provided health care for 35 

disadvantaged families by securing full health insurance coverage for the families, and we will continue 

to support this initiative in 2021. 

After an approach from the local authorities to help vulnerable families during the Covid-19 lockdown, 

Eastinco organised a food drive that provided support to over 100 families with Rice, Beans, Maize 

Flour, Salt and Soap. The Eastinco management is in talks to continue this program with the support of 

other major food manufactures and importers providing donations.  

Eastinco currently provides the maintenance on 65 solar water purification units that are donated free 

of cost to schools in Rwanda. Each unit is 100% solar-powered and can provide safe UV-filtered and 

bacteria-free drinking water for up to 400 school children and teachers. This clean water initiative helps 

to provide safe drinking water to over 26,000 children. We currently have four additional units in-country 

pending installation at new schools however, this roll-out has been delayed due to COVID-19. 

Risks  

Risk management is one of the core responsibilities of the Board and it is central to the decision-making 

process. The Board’s fundamental duties as to management are: 

• Assessing (quantitively and qualitatively) the principal risks to the Company. Principal risks 

are those risks or combination of risks that could seriously affect the performance, future 

prospects or reputation of the Company;  

• Recognising and assessing emerging risks. Emerging risks are those which have not yet 

occurred but are at an early stage and anticipated to increase in significance over the medium 

to long term time horizon;  

• Risk management oversight and promotion of a risk mitigation culture.  

Principal Risks and Uncertainties  

The Group operates in an uncertain environment and is subject to several risk factors. The Directors 

have carried out a robust assessment of the principal risks facing the Group, including those that 

threaten its business model, future performance, solvency or liquidity. They consider that the following 

are the principal risk factors that could materially and adversely affect the Group’s future operating 

results or financial position: 
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Eastinco Mining and Exploration Plc STRATEGIC REPORT (continued) 

 YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 

Deterioration in the metal markets in particular  

There is a risk that changes in the relevant law and legislation could have an adverse effect on the 

Group’s future performance, expected return and or feasibility of the project. The Group is also exposed 

to general economic risk, including changes in the economic outlook in its principal markets and 

government changes in industrial, fiscal, monetary or regulatory policies. The Board continues 

monitoring developments in the market in order that it can adapt its strategy. The management team 

has wide-ranging expertise in mineral exploration which, together with a flexible cost structure, enable 

the Group to adapt its organisation to changes in circumstances.  

Funding risk  

Although the Group has sufficient working capital for at least 12 months from the date of this report, the 

Group may not be able to obtain additional financing as and when needed which could result in a delay 

or indefinite postponement of exploration and development activities. In common with many exploration 

entities, the Group will need to raise further funds to progress the Group from the exploration phase into 

feasibility and eventually into the production of revenues.  

Dependence on key personnel 

The Company has a small management team and the loss of a key individual could have an adverse 

effect on the future of the Group’s business. The Group’s future success will also depend in large part 

upon its ability to attract and retain highly skilled personnel. There can be no assurance that the Group 

will be successful in attracting and retaining such personnel. The Group seek to create a workplace that 

attracts, retains and engages its workforce. Efforts are also made to attract new talent and skilled people. 

Environmental risk  

There may also be unforeseen environmental liabilities resulting from both the future and/or historic 

exploration or mining activities, which may be costly to remedy. In addition, potential environmental 

liabilities as a result of unfulfilled environmental obligations by the previous owners may impact the 

Group. If the Group is unable to fully remedy an environmental problem, it may be required to stop or 

suspend operations or enter into interim compliance measures pending completion of the required 

remedy. Environmental management systems are in place to mitigate environmental hazard risks. The 

Group uses advisors with specialist knowledge in mining and related environmental management for 

reducing the impacts of environmental risk.  

Political Risk 

All countries carry a political risk that can lead to interruption of activity. Politically stable countries can 

have enhanced environmental and social risks, risks of strikes and changes to taxation, whereas less 

developed countries can have, in addition, risks associated with changes to the legal framework, civil 

unrest and government expropriation of assets. The Company has working knowledge of Rwanda, 

through our subsidiary management team and our local joint venture partner have the experience to 

assist the Company in the management of its investment in order to help reduce possible political risk 
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Eastinco Mining and Exploration Plc STRATEGIC REPORT (continued) 

 YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 

Estimates of mineral reserves and resources  

Mineral resources are estimates and no assurance can be given that any particular grade or tonnage 

will be realised or that they will be converted into ore reserves or will ever qualify as a commercially 

mineable (or viable) deposit that can be legally and economically exploited. As a result of these 

uncertainties, there can be no assurance that any potential mineral resources defined by the Group’s 

exploration programmes will result in profitable commercial mining operations. The Directors are 

confident that they have put in place a strong management team capable of dealing with the above 

issues as they arise. 

Business Risks
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Eastinco Mining and Exploration Plc STRATEGIC REPORT (continued) 

 YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 

Corporate Responsibility  

We have defined the scope of our Group’s responsible business practices as falling within the following 

key focus areas:  

• Health and Safety – ensuring the safety and well-being of our staff  
• Environment – managing our environmental impact areas of waste, energy and water  
• Employees – supporting our people to develop and flourish within the business  
• Community – positive interaction with the communities in which we operate  
• Ethical Standards – operating to the highest ethical standards  
 

We remain committed to ensuring these activities become embedded in how we operate and contribute 

to the success of our business. These include not only identifying and managing business risk but 

exploring opportunities to add value to the business.  

Health and Safety  

The Group has maintained strict compliance with its Health and Safety Policy and is pleased to report 

that there were no lost-time accidents during the year.  

Environment  

No Group Company has had or been notified of any instance of non-compliance with environmental 

legislation.  

Key Performance Indicators  

EME uses multiple strategic key performance indicators (“KPI’s”) to measure our financial and non-

financial performance. The KPI’s, to be utilised from 2021 following the completion of our wash plant 

development, are linked to our strategic objectives to help assist in the measure of business 

performance.  

The following ten measures are considered by management to be some of the most important in 

evaluating the overall performance of the Group year on year.  

1.  Feed Tonnes (tonnes mined)  
2.  Ore Production  
3.  Tantalum Concentration %  
4.  Operational Hours  
5.  Operational Expense  
6.  Equipment Usage  
7.  Water Usage  
8.  Power Usage  
9.  Incident Rate (Accidents, Insurance Claims)  
10.  Hectares under License (Exploration & Mining) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Charles G Bray 
Director 
17 August 2021
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Eastinco Mining and Exploration Plc   
DIRECTORS' REPORT 

 YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 

 

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2020.  
 
General Information 
 
The Company is a public limited company which is quoted on Aquis Exchange and is incorporated and 
domiciled in the UK.  The address of its registered office is The Finsgate, 5-7 Cranwood Street, London 
EC1V 9EE. 
 
The registered number of the company is 07496976. 
 

Substantial Interests 

 

As at 4 August 2021, the significant shareholders of the Company were as follows:  

 

Shareholder Holding Holding % 

 Spreadex Limited                 58,731,000  13.56% 

 Jim Nominees Limited                 40,633,647  9.34% 

 The Bank Of New York (Nominees) Limited  29,996,512 6.89% 

 Summerhill Trust Company (Isle Of Man) Limited 25,737,260 5.92% 

 Edlin Holdings Ltd                 24,000,000  5.52% 

 Mr Daniel L Hogan                 23,849,500  5.48% 

 Mr Stephan C M Knoef  22,056,000  5.07% 

 James Kreitman  22,000,000  5.06% 

 Barnard Nominees Ltd 18,659,678 4.29% 

 Luna Nominees Limited 16,935,000 3.89% 

 Peel Hunt Holdings Limited 14,755,176 3.39% 

 Reba Global Pty Ltd 14,670,000 3.37% 

 Rene Nominees (IOM) Limited 14,000,000 3.22% 

 
Concert Party Holding 
 
C Bray, M Staten, D Hogan and S Knoef together, forming a Concert Party, hold 89,425,500 ordinary 
shares of 1 pence or 20.55% of the outstanding share capital.  
 
Beneficial Interest in Employee Benefit Trust 
 
The company has a beneficial interest in its own shares which have been acquired during the year 2018 
through a nominee company. The shares are held in an Employees Benefit Trust (The Eastinco EBT) 
for the benefit of its employees. This is intended to constitute an employee’s share scheme within the 
meaning of the section 1166 of the Companies Act 2006. The shares are held by IQ-EQ, formerly First 
Names Trust Company (Isle of Man) Limited and total 13,324,000 as noted in the above table. The 
shares have nominal value of £133,240 and represents 3% of the called up share capital of the company.  
To date options to purchase 13,324,000 of the shares have been granted to current and previous 
directors under share option agreements as disclosed in the note 18 of the financial statements.  
 
Directors and Directors' Interests 
 

The Directors who served in office since the beginning of the financial period are shown 
below: 

S J Retter* 
D Marais  
C Bray*    
M Staten*  
* Directors Bray and Staten are members of a management "Concert Party” holding 89,425,500 ordinary 
shares of 1 pence or 20.55% of the outstanding share capital. Simon Retter holds 2,000,000 ordinary 
shares of 1 pence. 
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Eastinco Mining and Exploration Plc DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED) 
        YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 
Details of the Directors’ fees are given in note 4 to the financial statements. In addition, the Directors 
were issued with share options. Share options disclosures are in note 18. 

 
As at the date of this report the interests of the directors in 1p ordinary shares of the company are as 
follows.  
 

Director Ordinary 
Shares 

Options 
in the 
EBT 
Scheme 

Total %(Percenta
ge of total 
issued 
share 
capital) 

Warrants 

M Staten 11,500,000 - 11,500,000 2.67% 4,862,500 

S J Retter 1,166,362 2,000,000 3,166,362 0.74% - 

D Marais** 14,670,000 - 14,670,000 3.41% 6,670,000 

C Bray* 2,270,000 - 2,270,000 0.53% 3,333 

Edlin Holdings 
Limited*  

24,000,000 - 24,000,000 5.58% 6,000,000 

 

*Charles Bray is deemed to have control over Edlin Holdings and as such Edlin Holdings limited is a 

related party in relation to Charles Bray Director Holdings. 
 
** D Marais holds shares through Reba Global Pty Ltd.   
 
Section 172 Statement  
The Directors are well aware of their duty unders.172 of the Companies Act 2006 to act in the way which 
they consider, in good faith, would be most likely to promote the success of the Company for the benefit 
of its members as a whole and, in doing so, to have regard (amongst other matters) to:  
 
• the likely consequences of any decision in the long term;  
• the interests of the Company’s employees;  
• the need to foster the Company’s business relationships with suppliers, customers and others; 
• the impact of the Company’s operations on the community and the environment; 
• the desirability of the Company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct; and  
• the need to act fairly between members of the Company.  
 
The Board recognises that the long-term success of the Group requires positive interaction with its 
stakeholders. Positive engagement with stakeholders will enable our stakeholders to better understand 
the activities, needs and challenges of the business and enable the Board to better understand and 
address relevant stakeholder views which will assist the Board in its decision making and to discharge 
its duties under Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006.  
 
In the following section we identify our key stakeholders, how we engage with them and key activities 
we have undertaken during the period in question. 
 
Shareholders 
 
Eastinco Mining and Exploration Plc engages with its shareholders. Shareholder support is vital to our 
success and we seek out and listen to shareholders’ opinions.  We have an open dialogue with our 
shareholders from direct conversation, meetings, and via digital platforms and social media. We also 
utilise a dedicated financial and investor public relations platform as well as social media to provide 
video, audio, and photos of our activities and our progress.  Shareholder feedback is communicated to 
the Board and the views of shareholders considered in our decision making.  
 
Colleagues 
 
Our team is made up of a diverse set of individuals critical to our success. Regular and active 
communications amongst the teams allows us to balance the Company’s success with individual health, 
safety, well-being, and career development. In 2020 the team actively communicated on a regular basis 
including two site conferences to develop and support frank and direct colleague communications. 
Additionally, the Company announced two joint-venture operations with new partners of the course of 
the year; the Company includes our joint-venture partners in our colleague communications. 
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Suppliers 
 
We have strong relationships with our suppliers who have been incredibly supportive and patient through 
a time of significant strategic change.  This support has allowed longstanding relationships to develop 
and become mutually beneficial. We engage with suppliers to optimise the delivery of key supplies, 
especially capital equipment. The Board recognises that relationships with suppliers are important to 
the Company’s long-term success and is briefed on supplier feedback and issues on a regular basis. 
 
 
Communities 
 
We are pleased to engage with the communities in which we operate to build understanding and trust. 
Our operations at present are joint-venture operations with partnerships involving long standing local 
community partners. We recognise that we have a significant impact on the local communities and that 
local issues are important. The Board focuses on opportunities to support local causes and issues. We 
combine this with creating opportunities to recruit and develop local peoples’ careers. Our community 
involvement includes working with local government, community and organisations to leverage our 
presence to improve local health and safety. The key issues and themes across local communities are 
reported back to the Board on a regular basis. In particular we consider the long term environmental 
impact of decisions both locally and nationally with a view to long term land reclamation and the 
improvement of use. 
 
Customers 
 
We seek to mine utilising mechanisation and industrial methods to deliver high quality products. Our 
ambition is to deliver significant quantities of best-in-class product to our trade customers. We intend to 
build strong lasting relationships with our trade customers and spend considerable time with them to 
understand the market, their needs, and views. We use this knowledge to inform our decision-making, 
for example, our final tantalum product will initially be sold in-country, where a number of international 
metal buying companies are established and have operated for a number of years.  This will allow for 
us to build quantities to sufficient levels prior to foreign sales and off take agreements. 
 
Advisors 
 
The Company seeks the advice of its legal and/or corporate advisor in communications and decision 
making with all stakeholders. Our advisors are critical in our communications with compliance and 
regulatory bodies including the Aquis Stock Exchange, the FCA, the Takeover Panel.   
 

Disclosure of Information to Auditors 

So far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors 
are unaware, and each Director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a Director in order 
to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors 
are aware of that information. 
 
Auditors 
 
Adler Shine LLP were appointed as auditors during 2021. They have expressed their willingness to 
continue in office as auditors and a resolution to re-appoint them will be proposed at the next Annual 
General meeting. 
 
This report was approved by the Board on 17 August 2021 and signed on its behalf. 
 
 

 
 
Charles G Bray 
Director 
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Eastinco Mining and Exploration Plc STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES 
 YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and regulations and have elected to prepare the financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), in conformity with the 
requirements of Companies Act 2006. 
 
The financial statements are required to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and 
of the profit or loss of the Group for that year.  
 
In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to:  
 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;  

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;  

• state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and  

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the Group will continue in business.  
 

 
Website Publications 
 
The directors are responsible for ensuring the annual report and the financial statements are made 
available on a website. Financial statements are published on the Company’s website in accordance 
with legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements, which may vary from legislation in other jurisdictions. The maintenance and integrity of the 
Company’s website is the responsibility of the directors. The directors’ responsibility also extends to 
the ongoing integrity of the financial statements contained therein. 

 
By Order of the Board 
 
 

 
 
Charles G Bray 
Director 
17 August 2021 
 

  

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that are sufficient to show and 
explain the Group’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time its financial position. 
They have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the 
assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. 
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR TO THE MEMBERS OF  
EASTINCO MINING AND EXPLORATION PLC 

 YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 
Opinion  

We have audited the financial statements of Eastinco Mining and Exploration Plc (the ‘Parent Company’) 
and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) for the year ended 31 December 2020 which comprise the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated and Parent Company Statement 
of Financial Position, the Consolidated and Parent Company Statement of Changes in Equity, the 
Consolidated and Parent Company Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements, 
including significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the 
preparation of the Group and Parent Company financial statements is applicable law and international 
accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

In our opinion:  

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent 

Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2020 and of the Group’s and Parent Company’s loss for 

the year then ended; 

• the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with international 

accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006; 

• the Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with 

international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 

2006; and 

• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 

Companies Act 2006 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and 

applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 

responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the 

Group and Parent Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit 

of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our 

other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence 

we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Material uncertainty relating to going concern 

We draw your attention to the policy on Going Concern within note 2 to the financial statements, which 

indicates that the financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis. The Board has 

referred to the fact that the Group and Parent Company are reliant on future fund raising to continue 

its activities as budgeted. Should future fund raising be unsuccessful, this may cast significant doubt to 

the Group and Parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 

our audit of the financial statements of the current year and include the most significant assessed risks 

of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including those which had the 

greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the 

efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 

financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 

opinion on these matters. 
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 YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 

The key audit matters identified were: 

• Going concern  

Area of focus 

With reference to note 2.4 to the financial statements, the Directors’ have concluded that the Group and 
Parent Company has sufficient cash resources and access to potential cash inflows to continue its 
activities for not less than twelve months from the date of approval of these financial statements and 
have therefore prepared these financial statements on a going concern basis.  

The Group has cash and cash equivalents of £52,000 at 31 December 2020. The Directors have 
concluded that the Group and Parent Company have sufficient cash resources and access to potential 
cash inflows to fund their activities for not less than 12 months from the date of approval of these financial 
statements.  

The Directors have also reviewed and assessed the impact of the current Covid-19 pandemic and the 
impact to the business, its activities and cash flow requirements. 

Management produces a cash flow forecast based on the Board’s plans. The key judgements within the 
cash flow forecast that we particularly focused on included:  

- Continued operating costs and capital expenditure to bring operational activities online; and 

- Assumptions and sensitivity analysis within the calculations. 

How our audit addressed the area of focus 

We have discussed with the Directors’ their plans and intentions in respect of the operating activities 
achieving the milestones required to come online. 

We assessed the reasonableness and support for the judgements underpinning management’s 
forecast, as well as the sensitivity of projections to these judgements. 

We have assessed the company’s resources and ongoing commitments and the reasonableness within 
management’s plans and objectives. 

Our conclusion of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting is included in the going 
concern section of the report above. 

Valuation of Investment (Parent Company) / Goodwill (Group) 

Area of focus 

With reference to note 2.12, the investment in subsidiaries is recognised as historic costs (initially at 
fair value). Management undertakes a detailed review for impairment of the value of the investment 
including considerations for: 

- Developments in respect of each licence, useful life of licences and the ability to renew these; 

- History of exploration success in the regions being explored, including comparable market trends of 
exploration companies in local regions; 

- Geopolitical, environmental, logistical and infrastructure conditions; 

- Commodity prices. 

How our audit addressed the area of focus 

We have reviewed the Directors’ judgements and assumptions within the impairment review and 
assessed the reasonableness and support for the judgements in reaching their opinion. We have 
discussed matters within the report with management and undertaken research into the external 
factors considered 
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR TO THE MEMBERS OF  
EASTINCO MINING AND EXPLORATION PLC 

 YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 
Along with our work in respect of going concern (noted above), we reviewed future forecasts to 
assess whether there was any material uncertainty in projections which may provide an indication 
that impairment may be required in the Parent Company’s value of its investment or the Group’s 
value of goodwill. 

We consider the basis of the valuation of the investment and goodwill in the financial statements to 
be reasonable. 

 
Our application of materiality  

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. The quantitative and qualitative 
thresholds for materiality determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit 
procedures.  

Materiality for the Group was set at £100,000 which is based on a percentage of the Group’s net assets. 

In our professional judgement, this benchmark is considered appropriate as it reflects the current 
investment nature of the business, representing a key performance indicator for users of the financial 
statements in assessing the Group’s financial performance. Each component of the Group was audited 
to a lower level of materiality. 

Our approach to the audit 

In designing our audit approach, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement 
in the financial statements. Procedures were designed and performed to address the risks identified. The 
audit was planned to ensure that the audit team obtained sufficient and appropriate audit evidence in relation 
to the significant operations of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020. This included the 
performance of full statutory audits on each of the significant subsidiary undertakings. 

Of the three components of the group, a full scope audit was performed on the complete financial 
information of the Parent Company and its Rwandan subsidiary that owns the asset. The remaining 
components were subject to analytical review only because they were not significant to the group.  

The main subsidiary undertaking the mining & exploration activities was audited by a component auditor 
operating under our instructions. The audit team interacted regularly with the component audit teams. 
This, in conjunction with additional procedures performed, gave us appropriate evidence for our opinion 
on the Group and Parent Company financial statements. 

Other information 

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The Directors are responsible for the other information 
contained within the annual report. Our opinion on the Group and Parent Company financial statements 
does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, 
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are 
required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements or a 
material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006  

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:  
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• the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for 

which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and  

• the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with 

applicable legal requirements.  

Matters on which we are required to report by exception  

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Parent Company and its 
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the 
Strategic Report or the Directors’ Report.  

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 
2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:  

• adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not 

been received from branches not visited by us; or  

• the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and 

returns; or  

• certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or  

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

Responsibilities of Directors  

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, the Directors are responsible for 
the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and 
for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group and the 
Parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to 
liquidate the Group or the Parent Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but 
to do so.  

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements. 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design 
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect 
of irregularities, including fraud.  

The procedures and the extent to which these are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is 
detailed below: 

• We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the Group and Parent 

Company operates in, focusing on those laws and regulations that had a direct effect on the 

financial statements. We obtained an understanding in this regard through discussions with 

management and the application of our cumulative audit knowledge and experience of this sector. 

The key laws and regulations we considered in this context included the Companies Act 2006, 

AQUIS Exchange regulations and applicable tax legislation.  
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• Enquiry of management to identify any instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. 

• We considered the nature of the industry and sector, control environment and business 

performance including the design of the Group’s remuneration policies, key drivers for Director’s 

remuneration, bonus levels and performance targets. 

• Discussing matters among the audit engagement team regarding how and where fraud might 

occur in the financial statements and potential indicators of fraud. 

• Undertaking appropriate sample-based testing of bank transactions. 

• We addressed the risk of fraud arising from management override of controls by performing audit 

procedures which included, but were not limited to: the testing of journals; enquiries of 

management, review of minutes and announcements, reviewing accounting estimates for 

evidence of bias; and evaluating the business rationale of any significant transactions that are 

unusual or outside the normal course of business. 

• At a significant component level, we engaged with the component auditors to ensure that they 

had conducted an extensive review into whether the operating subsidiary was fully compliant with 

laws and regulations at a local level, and reviewed their work conducted into the posting of journal 

entries to ensure there were no instances of fraud detected at a local level.  

Due to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is a risk that we will not detect all irregularities, including 
those leading to a material misstatement in the financial statements or non-compliance with regulation. 
This risk increases the more that compliance with a law or regulation is removed from the events and 
transactions reflected in the financial statements, as we will be less likely to become aware of instances 
of non-compliance. The risk is also greater regarding irregularities occurring due to fraud rather than 
error, as fraud involves intentional concealment, forgery, collusion, omission or misrepresentation. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the 
Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms 
part of our auditor’s report. 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 
16 of the Companies Act 2006.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no 
other purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to 
anyone, other than the company and the company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 
 
 
 
 
Alexander Chrysaphiades FCA (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of 
Adler Shine LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor 
Aston House 
Cornwall Avenue 
London N3 1LF 
 
Date: 17 August 2021 

 
 
 
 
 

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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Eastinco Mining and Exploration plc 
  
  CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 
 

   

     

 Notes 
   

 
 2020 2019 2019 

   (as restated)  

Total revenue  £'000 £'000 £'000 

  

  

 
Sales                    -                     -                      -    

                   -                     -                      -    

  

  

 
Administrative expenses 5              (308)              (734)               (926) 

 
    

Total operating loss               (308)              (734)               (926) 
 

 
   

Other revenue                   44                   -                      -    

Finance costs 6                (17)                  (8)                   (8) 

Loss before tax               (281)              (742)               (934) 
 

 
   

Tax expense 7                  -     -                    -    
  

   
Loss after tax               (281)              (742)               (934) 

     
Other comprehensive income     

     

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss    
 

Gain on translation of foreign operations               (186)              (105)                 (94) 

               (467)              (847)            (1,028) 

     
Loss per share  

  

 
Basic and Diluted  loss per share (pence) 8             (0.07)             (0.37)              (0.47) 

 
 
All activities relate to continuing operations.  
 
The notes on pages 26 to 46 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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  Group   Company  

        

 Notes 2020 2019 2019  2020 2019 

   

(as 
restated)     

  £'000 £'000 £'000  £'000 £'000 

Non-current assets  
      

Investment  
9 

                   
-    

                  
-    

                   
-     2,261 

             
2,100  

Goodwill 
10 

             
2,168  

            
2,168  

             
2,168   

                       
-    

                   
-    

Property, plant and equipment 
11 

             
1,038  

               
679  

                
441   

                       
-    

                   
-    

Total non-current assets 
 

             
3,206  

            
2,847  

             
2,609   

                  
2,261  

             
2,100  

        
Current assets        

Trade and other receivables 
12 

                
394  

                 
69  

                
133   

                  
1,699  

                
852  

Cash and cash equivalents 
13 

                  
52  

               
246  

                
246   

                       
49  

                
232  

Total current assets 
 

                
446  

               
315  

                
379   

                  
1,748  

             
1,084  

        

Total assets 
 

             
3,652  

            
3,162  

             
2,988   

                  
4,009  

             
3,184  

        
Equity and liabilities        

Share capital 
17 

             
4,301  

            
3,613  

             
3,613   

                  
4,301  

             
3,613  

Share premium 
17 

             
2,144  

            
1,835  

             
1,835   

                  
2,144  

             
1,835  

Share based compensation 
reserve  

             
1,348  

            
1,348  

             
1,348   

                  
1,348  

             
1,348  

Interest in shares in EBT 
 

               
(133) 

              
(133) 

              
(133)  

                   
(133) 

               
(133) 

Translation reserve 
 

               
(291) 

              
(105) 

                
(94)  

                       
-    

                   
-    

Accumulated losses 
 

            
(5,326) 

           
(5,062) 

           
(5,254)  

                
(5,221) 

            
(5,146) 

Other reserves 
 

                  
80  

                 
97  

                  
97   

                       
80  

                  
97  

Merger relief reserve  
 

             
1,200  

            
1,200  

             
1,200   

                  
1,200  

             
1,200  

Total equity 
 

             
3,323  

            
2,793  

             
2,612   

                  
3,719  

             
2,814  

        
Current liabilities        

Trade and other payables 
14 

                
110  

               
166  

                
173   

                       
71  

                
167  

Total current liabilities 
 

                
110  

               
166  

                
173   

                       
71  

                
167  

        
Non-current liabilities         

Loan notes  
15 

                
219  

               
203  

                
203   

                     
219  

                
203  

Total non-current liabilities 
 

                
219  

               
203  

                
203   

                     
219  

                
203  

        

Total Equity and liabilities               
3,652  

            
3,162  

             
2,988   

                  
4,009  

             
3,184  
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CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued) 
 AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 
 
 
 
 
These financial statements were approved by the Board on 17 August 2021 and signed on their behalf 
by 
 
 

  
 
Charles G Bray      Simon Rollason 
Chairman      Director 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Company number : 07496976 
 
The notes on pages 26 to 46 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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Group 

 

 Share  
capital 

Share 
premium 

Share-based 
compensation 

reserve 

Interest 
in 

shares 
in EBT 

Translation 
reserve 

Other 
Reserve  

Merger 
relief 

reserve 

Retained 
earnings 

Total 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

          

At 1 January 2019 
        

1,126  
    

   1,835  
           

    1,348  
         

(133) 
               -               -             -    

          
(4,328) 

    
(152) 

 
                 

-    

Loss for the year 
              

-    
            -                       -    

             
-    

               -               -             -    
             

(742) 
    

(742) 

Other comprehensive loss 
              

-    
            -                       -    

             
-    

        
    (105) 

                   
-    

    
(105) 

Transactions with owners          

Other reserve  
              

-    
            -                       -    

             
-    

               -            105           -    
 

      
105  

Transfer from other reserve 
to accumulated losses  

                
(8) 

                   
8  

         
-    

Merger relief reserve  
              

-    
            -                       -    

             
-    

               -         
1,200  

    
1,200  

Issue of new shares 
        

2,487  
            -                       -    

             
-    

               -              -    
                 

-    
   

2,487  

At 31 December 2019 
        

3,613  
      

 1,835  
              

 1,348  
         

(133) 
          

  (105) 
         

  97  
    

1,200  
          

(5,062) 
   

2,793  

          

          

At 1 January 2020 
        

3,613  
       

1,835  
               

1,348  
         

(133) 
          

  (105) 
          

 97  
    

1,200  
          

(5,062) 
   

2,793  

 
                 

-    

Loss for the year 
              

-    
            -                       -    

             
-    

               -               -             -    
             

(281) 
    

(281) 

Other comprehensive loss 
              

-    
            -                       -    

             
-    

            
(186) 

           -             -         
(186) 

Transactions with owners                  
-    

Other reserve  
              

-    
            -                       -    

             
-    

               -    
         

(17) 
         -    

                
17  

         
-    

Exercise of warrants 
                

618    
                

309    
                     -    

                           
-    

               -    
                  

-    
               

-    
         

-    
         

 927    

Issue of new shares 
             

70  
             -                       -    

                           
-    

               -    
                  

-    
               

-    
     

-  
     

  70  

At 31 December 2020 
        

4,301  
       

2,144  
              

 1,348  
         

(133) 
          

  (291) 
          

 80  
    

1,200  
          

(5,326) 
   

3,323  
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  

 YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 
Company 

 
Reserves Description and purpose      
Share capital Amount of the contributions made by shareholders in return for the issue of shares. 
Share premium Amount subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value.   
Share-based compensation reserve Cumulative  fair  value  of  share  options  granted  and recognised as an expense in the 

Income Statement.  

Translation reserve  The translation reserve comprises translation differences arising from the translation of 
financial statements of the Group’s foreign entities into Sterling (£).  

Other reserves The other reserve comprises differences arising from the discounting of loan notes. 

Merger relief reserve 
The merger relief reserve comprises differences between the fair value and at par value 
of shares issued for the acquisition of subsidiary 

Interest  in  shares in  Employees Benefit 
Trust (EBT) 

The Company set up an Employees Benefit Trust on 6 March 2015 (the Equatorial EBT) 
for the benefit of its employees.  The funds advanced to acquire the shares have been 
accounted for under IFRS as a deduction arriving at shareholders' funds rather than as 
an asset. 

 
 

Accumulated losses Accumulated losses represents total losses.  
 

 
The notes on pages 26 to 46 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.   

 

 Share  
capital 

Share 
premium 

Share-based 
compensation 

reserve 

Interest in 
shares in 

EBT 

Other 
Reserve  

Merger 
relief 

reserve 

Retained 
earnings 

Total 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

         

At 1 January 2019 
          

1,126  
          

1,835  
                

1,348  
                      

(133) 
               

-    
                  

-    
       

(4,328) 
    

(152) 

 
                

-    

Loss for the year 
                

-    
                

-    
                     -    

                           
-    

               
-    

                  
-    

          
(826) 

    
(826) 

Other comprehensive loss 
                

-    
                

-    
                     -    

                           
-    

               
-    

                  
-    

               
-    

         
-    

Transactions with 
owners 

        

Other Reserve  
                

-    
                

-    
                     -    

                           
-    

            
105  

                  
-    

               
-    

      
105  

Transfer from other reserve 
to accumulated losses  

                  
(8) 

                 
8  

         
-    

Merger relief reserve  
                

-    
                

-    
                     -    

                           
-    

               
-    

            
1,200  

    
1,200  

Issue of new shares 
          

2,487  
                

-    
                     -    

                           
-    

               
-    

                  
-    

               
-    

   
2,487  

At 31 December 2019 
          

3,613  
          

1,835  
                

1,348  
                      

(133) 
              

97  
            

1,200  
       

(5,146) 
   

2,814  

         

         

At 1 January 2020 
          

3,613  
          

1,835  
                

1,348  
                      

(133) 
              

97  
            

1,200  
       

(5,146) 
   

2,814  

 
                

-    

Loss for the year 
                

-    
                

-    
                     -    

                           
-    

               
-    

                  
-    

            
(92) 

      
(92) 

Other comprehensive loss 
                

-    
                

-    
                     -    

                           
-    

               
-    

                  
-    

               
-    

         
-    

Transactions with 
owners 

        

Transfer from other reserve 
to accumulated losses  

                
(17) 

               
17  

         
-    

Exercise of warrants 
                

618    
                

309    
                     -    

                           
-    

               
-    

                  
-    

               
-    

         
927    

Issue of new shares 
             

70  
             -                       -    

                           
-    

               
-    

                  
-    

               
-    

     
  70  

At 31 December 2020 
          

4,301  
          

2,144  
                

1,348  
                      

(133) 
              

80  
            

1,200  
       

(5,221) 
   

3,719  
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Eastinco Mining and Exploration plc 
CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

 YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 

 Group   Company  

 2020 2019 2019  2020 2019 

 
 

(as 
restated) 

    

 £'000 £'000 £'000  £'000 £'000 

Cash flow from operating activities       

Profit/(loss) before tax 
               

(281) 
               

(742)          (934)  

           
(93)          (826) 

Adjustments for:       

Depreciation 
                    

23 
                    

5               5   

                
-                 -    

Interest expense 
                  

17  
                    

8                8   

               
17                8  

Interest income                - 
                   

-                 -     

           
(163)            (33) 

Foreign exchange (gains)/losses 
                  

(74)  
                

(46)   -    -   -  

Provisions against loans 
                   

-    
                  

34              34   

                
-    34  

Reserve movements 
                   

-    
                   

-                  2   

                
-                 -    

Operating profit/(loss) before WC changes 
               

(315) 
               

(741)          (885)   
           

(239)          (818) 

Changes in working capital:       

(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables 
                 

(129) 
                 

(92)          (150)  

             
(82) (84)  

(Decrease)/increase in trade & other payables 
                

(84)  
                

573            194   

             
59  189  

Cash generated from operations 
                

(213)  
                  

481              44   

             
(23)  105  

Interest received 
                   

-    
                   

-                 -     

                
-                 -    

Net cash flow from operating activities 
                 

(528) 
               

(260)          (841)   
             

(262)           (713) 

Cash flow from investing activities       

Purchase of PPE 
               

(431) 
               

(711)          (237)  

                
-                 -    

Acquisition of subsidiary  -             107   

               
-               -    

Funds advanced to subsidiary                   - 
               

(490)          (490)  

           
(688)          (764) 

Net cash from investing activities 
               

(431) 
               

(1,201)          (620)  

           
(688)          (764) 

Cash flow from financing activities       

Net proceeds from borrowings 
                   

-    
                   

-                 -     

                
-                 -    

Net proceeds from issue of shares 
                

767  
             

1,707         1,707   

             
767         1,707  

Interest paid 
                   

-    
                   

-                 -     

                
-                 -    

Net cash flow from financing activities 
                

767  
             

1,707         1,707    
             

767         1,707  

Net increase/(decrease) in cash & cash 
equivalents 

               
(192) 

                
245            246  

           
(183)           230  

Cash & cash equivalents at beginning of the year 
                

246  
                    

2                2   

             
232                2  

Effect of exchange rate movements on cash 
                   

(2)    
                   

(1)              (2)  

                
-                 -    

Cash & cash equivalents at end of the year 
                  

52  
                

246            246    
               

49            232  

The notes on pages 26 to 46 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 

1. General information 

Eastinco Mining and Exploration plc ("the Company") is an investment vehicle, focussed on African 
mineral resource investment opportunities. The Company operates through its 100% owned subsidiary, 
Eastinco Limited (“EME Ltd”), a Rwandan tantalum, tin and tungsten miner.   
 
The Company is a public limited company which is quoted on Aquis Exchange and is incorporated and 
domiciled in the UK.  The address of its registered office is Finsgate, 5-7 Cranwood Street, London 
EC1V 9EE. 
 
The registered number of the company is 07496976. 

2. Basis of preparation 

2.1 General 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS and IFRIC interpretations) (“IFRS”) in force at the reporting date, and their 
interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) as adopted for use 
within the European Union. The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention except for the revaluation of certain financial instruments that are measured at fair value. 
 
The financial statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand. 

2.2 Functional and presentation currency 

The financial information of the Group is presented in UK Sterling, which is also the functional currency 
of the Company. The individual financial statements of each of the Company’s wholly owned 
subsidiaries are prepared in the currency of the primary economic environment in which it operates (its 
functional currency). 

2.3 Basis of consolidation 

The Consolidated Financial Statements comprise the financial statements of the Company, Eastinco 
Limited following the business combination which took place on 15 October 2019 (see note 3).  
 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group 
obtains control. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from 
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 
investee.  
 
Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights result in control. To support this 
presumption and when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, 
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an 
investee, including: 
 

• The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee; 
• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 
• The Group's voting rights and potential voting rights 

 
The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that 
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated 
from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that 
control ceases. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during 
the year are included in the Group Financial Statements from the date the Group gains control until the 
date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.  
 
All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting from intra-
group transactions that are recognised in assets, are eliminated in full. 
 
All the Group’s companies have 31 December as their year-end. Consolidated financial statements are 
prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions.  
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 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 

2.4 Going concern 

 
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The Group has not yet earned 
revenues and is still in the exploration phase of its business. The operations of the Group are currently 
financed from funds raised from shareholders. In common with many exploration entities, the Group will 
need to raise further funds in order to progress the Group from the exploration phase into feasibility and 
eventually into production of revenues. 
 
The Directors are reasonably confident that funds will be forthcoming as and when they are required 
and have received assurances to this effect as described in the Chairman’s Statement. However, the 
Group has cash and cash equivalents of £52,000 at 31 December 2020. In  January 2021, an additional 
£150,000 was raised of which £74,074 was in cash. The Directors are of the view this is sufficient to 
fund the Group’s committed expenditure and maintain good title to the exploration licences over the next 
12 months from the date of approval of these financial statements.,.  
 
As part of their assessment, the Directors have prepared cash-flow forecasts on the basis that cost 
reduction and deferral measures are implemented over the going concern period as a result of the 
current worldwide COVID 19 pandemic. The Directors have agreed, if circumstances require, to defer  
payment of their fees until such time as adequate funding is received and if necessary, scale back 
discretionary exploration activity.  
 
The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus, they continue to adopt the going concern basis 
of accounting in preparing the financial statements. 

2.5 Changes in accounting policies 

 
Adoption of new and revised standards and changes in accounting policies 
 
There were no new standards or interpretations impacting the Group that will be adopted in the annual 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020, and which have given rise to changes in 
the Group’s accounting policies. 
 
Standards and interpretations in issue but not yet effective or not yet relevant 
 
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements the following Standards and Interpretations 
which have not been applied in these financial statements were in issue but not yet effective:  
   

Effect annual periods 
beginning before or 

after 

IFRS 3 amendments updating a reference to the Conceptual Framework 1st January 2022 

IFRS 
4, 
7,9,16 
IAS 39 

amendments regarding replacement issues in the context of the 
IBOR reform 

1st January 2021 

IFRS 9 Amendments resulting from the annual improvements to IDRS 
Standards 2018-2020 (fees in the ’10 per cent’ test for derecognition 
of financial liabilities) 

1st January 2022 

IFRS 
16 

Amendments to extend the exemption from assessing whether a 
Covid -19 related rent concession is a lease modifications 

1st April 2021 

IFRS 
17 

Amendments to address concerns and implementation challenges 
that were identified after IFRS 17 was published  

1st January 2023 

IAS 1 Amendments to defer the effective date of January 2020 
amendments 
 
Amendments regarding the disclosure of accounting policies 

1st January 2023 

IAS 8 amendments regarding the definition of accounting estimates  1st January 2023 

IAS 12 Amendments regarding deferred tax on leases and decommissioning 
obligations 

1st January 2023 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 

Changes in accounting policies(continued) 

IAS 16 Amendments prohibiting a Company from deducting from the cost of 
property, plant and equipment amounts received from selling items 
while the Company is preparing the asset for its intended use 

1st January 2022 

IAS 37 Amendments regarding the costs to include when assessing whether 
a contract is onerous 

1st January 2022 

 
The Directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in future periods will 
have no material impact on the Group’s financial statements. 
 
Government Grants 
 
Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant 
will be received and the group will comply with all attached conditions. Government grants which are 
revenue in nature are recognised on a systematic basis within Other operating income in the 
Statement of Comprehensive income over the period in which the group recognises as expenses the 
related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.  

2.6 Segment reporting  

A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that 
are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments. A geographical 
segment is engaged in providing products or services within a particular economic environment that are 
subject to risks and returns that are different from those of segments operating in other economic 
environments. 
 
The Directors are of the opinion that the Group is engaged in a single segment of business being the 
exploration activity in one geographical area, being Rwanda. 

2.7 Accounting for interest in own shares held though an Employees Benefit Trust 

The funds advanced to acquire the shares have been accounted for under IFRS as a deduction arriving 
at shareholders' funds rather than as an asset. 

2.8 Financial instruments  

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of on entity and a financial liability 
or equity instrument of another. 
 

(a) Financial assets 
 
Initial recognition and measurement  
 
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, and subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair 
value through OCI, or fair value through profit and loss.  
 
The classification of financial assets at initial recognition that are debt instruments depends on the 
financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing 
them. The Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset 
not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.  
 
In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, 
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the 
principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an 
instrument level. 
 
The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets 
in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from 
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 

 
 
Subsequent measurement 
 
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories: 
 

• Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) 

• Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt 
instruments) 

• Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and 
losses upon derecognition (equity instruments) 

• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) 
 
This category is the most relevant to the Group. The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost 
if both of the following conditions are met: 
 

• The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order 
to collect contractual cash flows; and  

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.  

 
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate (EIR) 
method and are subject to impairment. Interest received is recognised as part of finance income in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Gains and losses are recognised in profit 
or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired. The Group’s financial assets at amortised 
cost include trade receivables (not subject to provisional pricing) and other receivables. 
 
Derecognition  
 
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial 
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial 
position) when: 
 

• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or  

• The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an 
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-
through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

 
Impairment of financial assets  
 
The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held 
at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows 
due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted 
at an approximation of the original EIR. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale 
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms. 
 
The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit 
or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with 
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of 
the original EIR. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other 
credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms. ECLs are recognised in two stages. For 
credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, 
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12-
months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase 
in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the 
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 

 
For trade receivables (not subject to provisional pricing) and other receivables due in less than 12 
months, the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs, as permitted by IFRS 9. 
Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead, recognises a loss allowance 
based on the financial asset’s lifetime ECL at each reporting date. 
 
The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. 
However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal 
or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual 
amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.  

 
A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual 
cash flows and usually occurs when past due for more than one year and not subject to enforcement 
activity. At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost 
are credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental 
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. 
 
(b) Financial liabilities  
 
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an 
effective hedge, as appropriate. All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the 
case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs. The Group’s 
financial liabilities include trade and other payables and loans. 
 
Subsequent measurement 
 
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below: 
 
Loans and borrowings and trade and other payables 
 
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings and trade and other payables are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in 
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income when the liabilities are derecognised, 
as well as through the EIR amortisation process.  
 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or 
costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
 
This category generally applies to trade and other payables. 
 
Derecognition  
 
A financial liability is derecognised when the associated obligation is discharged or cancelled or expires. 
 
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different 
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification 
is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference 
in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

2.9 Taxation 

Current taxes are based on the results shown in the financial statements and are calculated according 
to local tax rules, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 
 
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, determined using tax rates that are 
expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset or liability is realised or settled. Deferred tax 
assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available 
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 

 

2.10 Property, plant and equipment  

Fixed assets are carried at cost less depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Where parts of 
an item of tangible fixed assets have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of 
tangible fixed assets.  The Company assesses at each reporting date whether tangible fixed assets are 
impaired. 
 
Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets, at rates calculated to write off the cost less the 
estimated residual value of each asset, on a straight line basis, over their expected useful lives as 
follows: 
 
Mining equipment    10 years 
Office equipment                                                 4 years 
Computer equipment    2 years 
Land      not depreciated 
Mine site                                                              not depreciated 
 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed if there is an indication of a 
significant change since last annual reporting date in the pattern by which the Company expects to 
consume an asset’s future economic benefits. 

2.11 Intangible assets – Goodwill  

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of a business combination over the Group’s interest in the 

fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired.   

Cost comprises the fair value of assets given, liabilities assumed, and equity instruments issued, plus 
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. Contingent consideration is included in cost 
at its acquisition date fair value and, in the case of contingent consideration classified as a financial 
liability, remeasured subsequently through profit or loss.  

Goodwill is capitalised as an intangible asset with any impairment in carrying value being charged to the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Where the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities exceed the fair value of consideration paid, the excess is credited in full to the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on the acquisition date. 

2.12  Impairment of non-financial assets (excluding inventories and deferred tax assets) 

Impairment tests on goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful economic lives are 
undertaken annually at the financial year end. Other non-financial assets are subject to impairment tests 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. Where the carrying value of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of 
value in use and fair value less costs to sell), the asset is written down accordingly. Where it is not 
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the impairment test is carried out on 
the smallest group of assets to which it belongs for which there are separately identifiable cash flows; 
its cash generating units (‘CGUs’). Goodwill is allocated on initial recognition to each of the Group’s 
CGUs that are expected to benefit from a business combination that gives rise to the goodwill.  

Impairment charges are included in profit or loss, except to the extent they reverse gains previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed. 

2.13 Investment in subsidiary  

 
On 15 October 2019, the Company acquired the entire issued share capital of Eastinco Limited. Eastinco 
Limited was established on 6 February 2018 to conduct sustainable trading, mining and mineral 
development in the Rwandan mining sector. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 

 
 
Eastinco Limited has established and maintains a strong local industry presence including a network of 
traders, miners and officials who provide valuable industry knowledge and insight. Additionally the 
founders have extensive knowledge and experience in the mining and commodity trade sector in Africa. 
 
The fair value of consideration of £2,100,000 was settled on the acquisition date by the issue of the 
Company’s Loan Notes with an aggregate value of £300,000 and the difference £1,800,000 by issue of 
the Company’s ordinary shares 60,000,000 at par. The fair value of these shares was £1,800,000 at 
0.03p, credited as fully paid.  

2.14 Cash and cash equivalents 

 
For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes 
cash on hand and deposits held at call with financial institutions.  

2.15 Foreign currencies 

 

Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at the rates of exchange ruling at 
the Statement of Financial Position date.  Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into sterling 
at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction.  Exchange differences are taken into account 
in arriving at the operating result. 
 
On consolidation of a foreign operation, assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate at the 
date of the Statement of Financial Position, income and expenses for each Statement of Comprehensive 
Income presented are translated at average exchange rates.  All resulting exchange differences shall 
be recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity. Exchange rate used are as 
follows: 
Average rate - 1 RWF = 0.00082430 GBP 
Yearend rate - 1 RWF = 0.00076989 GBP 

2.16 Share-based payment arrangements 
 

The Group operates equity-settled, share-based compensation plans, under which the entity receives 
services from employees as consideration for equity instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value 
of employee services received in exchange for the grant of share options are recognised as an expense. 
The total expense to be apportioned over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value 
of the options granted: 
 

• including any market performance conditions;  

• excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions; and  

• including the impact of any non-vesting conditions. 
 
Non-market performance and service conditions are included in assumptions about the number of 
options that are expected to vest. The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the 
period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each reporting 
period the Group revises its estimate of the number of options that are expected to vest. 
 
The Group recognises the impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a 
corresponding adjustment to equity. 
 
When options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any directly 
attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium. 
 
The fair value of goods or services received in exchange for shares is recognised as an expense and 
included within administrative expenses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 

2.17 Retirement and termination benefit costs  

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense when 
employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions. Payments made to state-managed 
retirement benefit plans are accounted for as payments to defined contribution plans where the Group’s 
obligations under the plans are equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit 
plan.  
 

2.18 Leases 

A contract is or contains a lease when the contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified 
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and 
a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, 
and subsequently at cost less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and is adjusted for 
certain re-measurements of the lease liability. The cost of the right-of-use asset includes the amount of 
the initial measurement of the lease liability, any lease payments made at or before the commencement 
date, less any lease incentives received, any initial direct costs; and if applicable, an estimate of costs 
to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the underlying asset, restoring the site on which 
it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the 
lease. Right-of-use assets are presented in property, plant and equipment on the statement of financial 
position.  
 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at 
the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot 
be readily determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. The incremental borrowing rate reflects 
the rate of interest that the lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset 
of similar value in a similar economic environment with similar terms and conditions.  
 
The lease liability is subsequently increased by the interest cost on the lease liability and decreased by 
lease payments made. It is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a 
change in an index or rate, a change in the estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a 
residual value guarantee, or as appropriate, changes in the assessment of whether a purchase or 
extension option is reasonably certain to be exercised or a termination option is reasonably certain not 
to be exercised. The Group applies judgement to determine the lease term for some lease contracts 
which contain renewal options.  
 
The Group does not recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets, 
leases with lease terms that are less than 12 months and arrangements for the use of land that grant 
the Group the right to explore, develop, produce or otherwise use the mineral resource contained in that 
land. Lease payments associated with these arrangements are instead recognised as an expense over 
the term on either a straight-line basis, or another systematic basis if more representative of the pattern 
of benefit. The Group applies judgement in determining whether an arrangement grants the Group the 
right to explore, develop, produce or otherwise use the mineral resource contained in that land. 

2.19 Exploration, evaluation and development expenditures  

 
Exploration  
Exploration expenditures reflect the costs related to the initial search for mineral deposits with 
economic potential or obtaining more information about existing mineral deposits. Exploration 
expenditures typically include costs associated with the acquisition of mineral licences, prospecting, 
sampling, mapping, diamond drilling and other work involved in searching for mineral deposits. All 
expenditures relating to exploration activities are expensed as incurred except for the costs associated 
with the acquisition of mineral licences which are capitalised.  
 
Evaluation  
Evaluation expenditures reflect costs incurred at projects related to establishing the technical and 
commercial viability of mineral deposits identified through exploration or acquired through a business 
combination or asset acquisition. 
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Evaluation expenditures include the cost of:  
 

• establishing the volume and grade of deposits through drilling of core samples, trenching and 
sampling activities for an ore body that is classified as either a mineral resource or a proven 
and probable reserve;  

• determining the optimal methods of extraction and metallurgical and treatment processes;  

• studies related to surveying, transportation and infrastructure requirements;  

• permitting activities; and  

• economic evaluations to determine whether development of the mineralised material is 
commercially viable, including scoping, prefeasibility and final feasibility studies.  
 

Evaluation expenditures are capitalised if management determines that there is evidence to support 
probability of generating positive economic returns in the future. A mineral resource is considered to 
have economic potential when it is expected that the technical feasibility and commercial viability of 
extraction of the mineral resource can be demonstrated considering long-term metal prices. Therefore, 
prior to capitalising such costs, management determines that the following conditions have been met:  

• There is a probable future benefit that will contribute to future cash inflows;  

• The Group can obtain the benefit and control access to it; and  

• The transaction or event giving rise to the benefit has already occurred.  
 
The evaluation phase is complete once technical feasibility of the extraction of the mineral deposit has 
been determined through preparation of a reserve and resource statement, including a mining plan as 
well as receipt of required permits and approval of the Board of Directors to proceed with development 
of the mine. On such date, capitalised evaluation costs are assessed for impairment and reclassified to 
development costs.  
 
Development  
Development expenditures are those that are incurred during the phase of preparing a mineral deposit 
for extraction and processing. These include pre-stripping costs and underground development costs to 
gain access to the ore that is suitable for sustaining commercial mining, preparing land, construction of 
plant, equipment and buildings and costs of commissioning the mine and processing facilities. It also 
includes proceeds received from pre-commercial production.  
 
Expenditures incurred on development projects continue to be capitalised until the mine and mill move 
into the production stage. The Group assesses each mine construction project to determine when a 
mine moves into the production stage. The criteria used to assess the start date are determined based 
on the nature of each mine construction project, such as the complexity of a plant or its location. Various 
relevant criteria are considered to assess when the mine is substantially complete and ready for its 
intended use and moved into the production stage. The criteria considered include, but are not limited 
to, the following:  

• the level of capital expenditures compared to construction cost estimates;  

• the completion of a reasonable period of testing of mine plant and equipment;  

• the ability to produce minerals in saleable form (within specification); and  

• the ability to sustain ongoing production of minerals.  
 
If the factors that impact the technical feasibility and commercial viability of a project change and no 
longer support the probability of generating positive economic returns in the future, expenditures will no 
longer be capitalised and the capitalised development costs will be assessed for impairment. 
 
 
 
 
.
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2.20 Critical accounting estimates and judgements 

 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates.  It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying 
the group’s accounting policies.  The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or 
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are 
disclosed below: 
 
a)  Recoverability of intangible assets 
 
The Group tests annually for impairment or more frequently if there are indications that the intangible 
assets might be impaired. 
 
Determining whether the intangible assets are impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the 
cash generating units to which the intangible assets belong.  Where impairment indicators are present, 
the Group is required to evaluate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit 
and the suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value. 
 
The carrying value of Group’s only intangible assets which is Goodwill at 31 December 2020 is 
£2,168,486 (2019: £2,168,486). 
 
b) Going concern 
 
In their assessment of going concern, the Directors have prepared cash flow forecasts which require a 
number of judgments to be made including the Directors’ ability to access further financing and to 
implement cost saving and deferral measures, where necessary.  
 
The Directors have prepared a cash flow forecast which assumes that the Group is not able to raise 
additional funds within the going concern period and if that was the case, the forecasts demonstrate that 
austerity measures can be implemented or significant project expenditure delayed to reduce the cash 
outflows to the minimal contracted and committed expenditure while also maintaining the Group’s 
licences and permits. Based on their assessment of the financial position, the Directors have a 
reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to continue in operational existence for the next 
twelve months and continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing these financial 
statements. 
 
 

3. Business combination  

On 15 October 2019, the Company acquired the entire issued share capital of Eastinco Limited. Eastinco 
Limited was established on 6 February 2018 to conduct sustainable trading, mining and mineral 
development in the Rwandan mining sector. 
 
Eastinco Limited has established and maintains a strong local industry presence including a network of 
traders, miners and officials who provide valuable industry knowledge and insight. Additionally the 
founders have extensive knowledge and experience in the mining and commodity trade sector in Africa. 
 
The fair value of consideration of £2,100,000 was settled on the acquisition date by the issue of the 
Company’s Loan Notes with an aggregate value of £300,000 and the difference £1,800,000 by issue of 
the Company’s ordinary shares 60,000,000 at par. The fair value of these shares was £1,800,000 at 
0.03p, credited as fully paid.  
 
Deferred consideration of up to £8.1 million which was payable to the vendors depending on the financial 
performance of Eastinco Limited during the period commencing on 1 October 2019 and ending on 30 
September 2020, is now valued at £nil due to the losses incurred by the company in the specified period. 
 
The fair value of net liabilities of Eastinco Limited at time of acquisition was valued at (£175,000): 
 £’000 

Fair value of consideration 2,100 

Acquired net liabilities  175 

Goodwill recognised at acquisition 2,275 
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4. Directors’ remuneration 

 
 2020 2019 
 £'000 £'000 

Salaries   

Directors’ fees and benefits 39 105                         

National insurance contributions 

- 
105 

 39 210 

 

5. Administrative expenses 

 2020 2019 

  As restated  
 £'000 £'000 

Director’s fees 39 210 

Auditor’s remuneration  17 52 

Travel expenses 5 18 

Legal expenses 20 258 

Professional fees 144 256 

Accounting fees 27 15 

Other expenses 56 (75) 

 
308 734 

 
Auditor’s remuneration 

 2020 2019 

 £'000 £'000 

Auditor's remuneration:   

-  Audit fee  17                  17 

-  Non-audit services -                    1   

Provision against related party loan -                 34    
 17                 52 

 

Other revenue  2020 2019 

 £'000 £'000 

Government grants 44 - 

 44 - 

 
. 

Director salaries 2020 2019 

 £'000 £'000 

Charles Bray 15 49 

Mike Staten 15 45 

Simon Retter 9 11 

 39 105 
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6. Finance costs 

 2020 2019 
 £'000 £'000 

   

Interest expense on loan notes 17                     8    

 17 8 

7. Income tax 

 2020 2019 
 £’000 £’000 
Current tax: 
Tax 

 
- 

 
- 

   
Total tax  - - 

 
Reconciliation of income tax 
 2020 2019 

 

 

(as 
restated) 
restated) 

 
 £’000 £’000 
   

   

Loss before tax  (281)  (742) 

UK corporation tax rate 
 

19% 19% 

Tax at expected rate of corporation tax 
 

(53) (141) 

   

Effects of:   

Expenditure not deductible for tax purposes 0    52  

Effect of overseas tax rates (16) (13) 

Unutilised tax losses carried forward 69 102 
 
  

   

Total tax  - - 

         

The United Kingdom has a 19% tax rate and Rwanda has 30% tax rate. For the purposes of the 
reconciliation UK rate of corporation tax 19% (2019: 19%) is used.  
 
A deferred tax asset has not been recognised in respect of deductible temporary differences relating to 
certain losses carried forward at the year end, as there is insufficient evidence that taxable profits will 
be available in the foreseeable future against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised.  
 
The unrecognised deferred tax asset for the Group was £283,510 (2019: £265,929) at a rate of 19%
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8. Loss per share 

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share is based on the following data: 
 2020 2019 2019 

  (as restated)  

Earnings  £'000 £'000 £'000 

Loss from continuing operations for the year 
attributable to the equity holders of the Company 

                  
(281)                    (742)                  (934) 

Number of shares    
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the 
purpose of basic and diluted earnings per share 

   

393,879,187 200,814,390    200,814,390  

Basic and diluted earnings per share (pence) 
                 

(0.07)                   (0.37)                 (0.47) 

 
The potential number of shares which could be issued following the exercise of options and warrants currently 
outstanding amounts to 19.2 Billion (see note 17). Dilutive earnings per share equals basic earnings per share 

as, due to the losses incurred, there is no dilutive effect from the existing share options and warrants. 

9. Investment 

 Investment in Subsidiaries 
 2020 2019 
 £’000 £’000 
Investment    
Cost:   
At the beginning of the year 2,100 - 
Additions 161 2,100 

At 31 December  2,261 2,100 
   
Impairment - - 
Provision for impairment  - - 

At 31 December  - - 
   
Carrying Amount   
At 31 December  2,261 2,100 

Details of Subsidiaries are disclosed in note 19.    

10. Goodwill 

The goodwill represents assets that are not separately identifiable. The excess consideration over the  
net asset acquired of Eastinco Ltd. It is a Group only intangible asset.  
 2020 2019 
 £’000 £’000 
Cost:   
At the beginning of the year 2,168 - 
Additions - 2,275 
Foreign exchange movement - (107) 

At 31 December  2,168 2,168 
   
Accumulated impairment losses brought forward - - 
Charge for year  - - 

At 31 December  - - 
   
Carrying Amount   
At 31 December  2,168 2,168 



 

39 
  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 

 
 

Goodwill is reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence of 

impairment. If any such indication exists, an impairment loss is recognised in the profit or loss as the 
difference between the carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows. 

 
The Directors therefore undertook an assessment of the following areas and circumstances that could 

indicate the existence of impairment: 
• The Group’s right to explore in an area has expired, or will expire in the near future without 

renewal; 
• No further exploration or evaluation is planned or budgeted for; 
• A decision has been taken by the Board to discontinue exploration and evaluation in an area 

due to the absence of a commercial level of reserves; or 
• Sufficient data exists to indicate that the book value will not be fully recovered from future 

development and production. 
Following their assessment, the Directors concluded that no impairment charge was necessary for the 
year ended 31 December 2020.  

11. Property, plant and equipment 
Group 

 Mine 
Mining 

Equipment 
Office 

Equipment 
Computer 

Equipment 
Land Total 

Cost £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

At 1 January 2019 238  417  - 1  23  679  
Foreign exchange 
adjustment (17) (30) - - (2) (49) 

Additions 374 41  7  - 8  430  

At 31 December 2020 595  428  7  1  29  1,060  
 

      
Depreciation       
At 1 January 2019 - - - - - - 

Charge for the year - 21  2  - - 23  

At 31 December 2020 - 21  2  - - 23  
 

      
Net book value        
At 31 December 2020 595  407  5  1  29  1,037  

 
      

As restated       

 
Mine 

Mining 
Equipment 

Office 
Equipment 

Computer 
Equipment Land Total 

Cost £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

At 1January 2018 - - - - - - 
Acquired as a part of 
business combination  205 -  1 23  229 

Additions  217 - - - 217 

As previously stated  422 - 1 23 446 

Additions 238  - - - - 238 

At 31 December 2019 
(as restated) 238  422  - 1  23  684 
 

      
Depreciation       
At 1 January 2018 - -  - - - - 

Charge for the year - 5  -  - - 5 

As previously stated - 5    5 

Charge for the year - - - - - - 

At 31 December 2019 
(as restated) - 5 - - - 5 
       

Net book value        
At 31 December 2019 238  417  - 1  23  679  
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12. Trade and other receivables 

 Group   Company 
 2020 2019 2019  2020 2019 

  (restated)     
 £'000 £'000 £'000  £'000 £'000 

Amounts owed by group 
undertakings 

                           
-  

                                
-  

                       
-    

                
1,383  

           791  

Other debtors 386 67 131                    
308  

59 

Prepayments 8 2 2                        
8  

2 

 394 69 133  1,699 852 

13. Cash and cash equivalents 

 Group   Company  
       
  2020 2019  2020 2019 

  £'000 £'000  £'000 £'000 

Cash at bank and in hand 
 52 

 
246 

 
49  

 
232 

14. Trade and other payables 

 Group   Company  

 2020 2019 2019  2020 2019 

  (as restated)     
 £'000 £'000 £'000  £'000 £'000 

Trade payables  
                        

58  
                             

48  
 

47 
                     

26  
 

42 

Short term loans 
                       

- 
                             

15  
 

15 
 

                  - 
 

15 

Other payables 
                          

10  
                             

70  
 

78 
                     

3  
 

77 

Accruals 
                           

42  
                             

33  
 

33 
                       

42  
 

33 

                         
110 

                           
166  

 
173 

                   
71 

 
167 

15. Borrowings 

 Group   Company  
Non-current liabilities  2020 2019 2019  2020 2019 
  (as restated)     

 £'000 £'000 £'000  £'000 £'000 

Loan notes                    219                   203                203                219             203  

                    219                    203                 203              219             203  

Loan notes of £300,000 are interest free and expire on 31 December 2024. These have been discounted 
and are being amortised at an 8% market rate of interest
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16. Financial instruments 

Categories of financial instruments Group  Company 

 2020 2019  2020 2019 

  As restated    

Financial assets measured at amortised cost £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 

Other receivables 394 69  1,699 852 

Cash and cash equivalents 52 246  49 232 

 445 315  1,748 1,084 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost      

Other payables 329 369  290 370 

 
Financial risk management objectives and policies 
The Group is exposed through its operations to credit risk and liquidity risk. In common with all other 
businesses, the Group is exposed to risks that arise from its use of financial instruments. This note 
describes the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing those risks and the methods 
used to measure them. Further quantitative information in respect of these risks is presented throughout 
this financial information. 
 
General objectives, policies and processes 
The Directors have overall responsibility for the determination of the Group’s risk management 
objectives and policies. Further details regarding these policies are set out below: 
 
Capital management 
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to 
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 
 
The capital structure of the Group consists of issued capital, reserves and retained earnings. The 
Directors review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis. As a part of this review, the Directors 
consider the cost of capital, the risks associated with each class of capital and overall capital structure 
risk management through the new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt 
or the redemption of existing debt 
 
The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.   
 
The management’s strategy remained unchanged from 2018.   
 
Market price risk 
The development and success of any project of the Group will be primarily dependent on the future 
prices of various minerals being exploited. Mineral prices are subject to significant fluctuation and are 
affected by a number of factors which are beyond the control of the Company. Future production from 
the projects is dependent on mineral prices that are adequate to make the project economic. 
 
Credit risk 
The Company’s credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents with banks and financial institutions. 
For banks and financial institutions, only independently rated parties with minimum rating “A” are 
accepted. 
 
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk arises from the Directors’ management of working capital. It is the risk that the Company 
will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligations as they fall due. 
 
The Directors’ policy is to ensure that the Company will always have sufficient cash to allow it to meet 
its liabilities when they become due. To achieve this aim, the Directors seek to maintain a cash balance 
sufficient to meet expected requirements.  
 
The Directors have prepared cash flow projections on a monthly basis through to 31 December 2020. 
At the end of the period under review, these projections indicated that the Group is expected to have 
sufficient liquid resources to meet its obligations under all reasonably expected circumstances.
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Foreign exchange risk 
The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various 
currency exposures, primarily with respect to the Rwandan Franc (“RWF”). Foreign exchange risk arises 
from future commercial transactions, recognised monetary assets and liabilities and net investments in 
foreign operations. 
 
At 31 December 2020, had the exchange rate between the Sterling and RWF increased or decreased 
by 10% with all other variables held constant, the increase or decrease respectively in net assets would 
amount to approximately £108k/£(98k) 
 
The Group does not hedge against foreign exchange movements 
 

17. Share capital 

The Ordinary Shares issued by the Company have a 1p par value and all fully paid. Each Ordinary 
Share carries one vote on a poll vote.  
 

  
Number of shares 

Share 
Capital 
£’000 

Share 
Premium 

£’000 

Brought forward at 1 January 2020      361,248,496  3,613 1,835 

Shares issued for cash 61,820,777  618 309 

Shares issued to consultants           7,000,000  70 - 

    
As at 31 December 2020  430,069,273 4,301 2,144 

 

18. Share based payments 

 
Options 
 

Equity settled share-option plan 
 
No further share options were granted during the accounting period. 
 

At 31 December 2020, 13,324,000 options remained in issue (2019 — 13,324,000). 
 

The fair values of the options granted have been calculated using Black-Scholes model 
assuming the inputs shown below: 
Share price £0.02 

Exercise price £0.01 

Time to maturity 10 years on CSOP 

Time to maturity 7-10 years 

Risk free rate 1.3% 

Volatility 27.0% 

 

An expense of £Nil has been recognised in the year (2019: £Nil) in respect of a share-based payment 
charge for the share options issued during the accounting period under the Employee Benefit Trust and 
CSOP.
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Warrants 
 
The following warrants were issued as part of share subscriptions: 
 

 2020 2019 

 
Average exercise 
price per warrant 

Number of 
warrants 

Average exercise 
price per warrant 

Number of 
warrants 

Outstanding at 
beginning of year 1.5p 191,900,000 1.5p 8,000,000 
Exercised during 
the year 

 
1.5p (50,715,333) 1.5p - 

Granted in the year 
 

3p 50,718,666 1.5p 183,900,000  

Lapsed in the year 1.5p (133,184,667) - - 

Outstanding at end 
of the year 2.79p  58,718,666 1.5p 191,900,000 

Each warrant holder that exercised their 1.5p warrants were issued with an equivalent number of 3p 
warrants which vested immediately and expire on 30 August 2024. 
 
The total expense recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income during the year was £nil 
(2019: £nil).   
 

Grant Date Expiry date Exercise price Warrants 2020 Warrants 2019 

 2 July 2021 1.5p  8,000,000 

3 June 2019 30 Sep 2020 1.5p  143,400,000 

10 Sep 2019 30 Sep 2020 1.5p  40,500,000 

2 June 2020  30 Aug 2024 3p 50,718,666 - 

   50,718,666 191,900,000 

 
Weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at end of year was 3.23 years 
(2019:0.78 years) 

19. Significant Group companies 

Significant subsidiaries held by the Group and consolidated in the Eastinco Mining And Exploration PLC 
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 are listed in the table below. Some of the 
subsidiaries are not directly held by the Company but via intermediate holding companies. 
 

 Share-holding Nature of Business 
Country of 

Incorporation 

Held directly:    

Eastinco Limited 100% Mining & exploration Rwanda 
    

Held directly:    

Eastinco ME Ltd 100% Mining & exploration UK 

    

Held directly:    

Equatorial Mine & Exp Limited 100% Dormant UK 

    

Held indirectly:    

Musasa Mining Ltd 85% Dormant Rwanda 
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20. Related party transactions 

Transactions with Directors 
Charles Bray is a Director of the Company and during the year, Charles Bray received total fees of 
£15,000 (2019: 49,217). Charles Bray owed £84,165 to the company at the end of the year (In 2019, 
the company owed £15,228 Charles Bray). During the year the company loaned Charles Bray £90,000 
of which £22,000 had been repaid by the year end. 
 
Mike Staten is a Director of the Company and during the year, Mike Staten received total fees of £15,000 
(2019: 43,782). Mike Staten owed  £11,279 the company at the end of the year (2019: nil) 
 
Simon Retter is a Director of the Company and during the year, Simon Retter received total fees of 
£8,800 (2019: 11,329).  
 
During the year Augustin Corporation loaned the company a total of £132,445. £90,000 of this was 
assigned to Edin Holdings Limited and settled via the conversion 6,000,000 1.5p warrants. A further 
£45,000 was settled by the issue of 3,000,000 shares. At the year end the Augustin Corporation owed 
the company £3,286. (2019: £Nil). 
 
Augustin Corporation is an Pennsylvania (USA) corporation which is 100% owned by the Astin 
Trust.  The Astin Trust was settled by Charles Bray. 
 
Edlin Holdings is an Isle of Man company which invests and operates non-US based investments.  The 
ultimate beneficial owners of Edlin Holdings are Eden, Linus, and Charles Bray. 
 
At the year end, directors hold shares as below: 
 

Name   No. of Warrants No. of Shares 

Charles Bray  3,333 2,270,000 

Edlin Holdings Limited*  Director-Charles Bray 6,000,000 24,000,000 

Mike Staten   - 11,500,000 

S J Retter  - 3,166,362 

D Marais  6,670,000 14,670,000 

 
 
Details of directors’ remuneration during the year are given in note 4. 
 
There are no other related party transactions.  
 

21. Prior Year Adjustment 

 
The Group’s 2019 figures have been restated as Eastinco Ltd has changed its accounting policy and  
now capitalised expenses that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction, or production of 
mining site, under mining assets rather than immediately expense these costs. The effect of the prior 
year adjustment can be seen in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position. 

Impact of restatement on- 
  
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income- 
following restatement Losses for the year 2019 reduced to £742,000 from £934,000. 
  
Consolidated statement of financial position- 
following restatement Net assets as at 31.12.2019 increased from £2,612,000 to £2,793,000. 
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22. Ultimate controlling party 

The Directors consider that there is no controlling or ultimate controlling party of the Company. 

23. Capital commitments 

The Company has no capital commitments at the year end 

24. Events after the reporting date 

Letter of Intent for Metal Production Purchase 

The Company has received a Letter of Intent ("LOI") from Kalon Resources ("Kalon"), a wholly owned 

subsidiary of multi-national Noble Group Holdings, to purchase a significant portion of the future 

tantalum and tin metal production from the Musasa operations over the next three years. Kalon will pay 

the prevailing Kigali market prices, currently approximately $110,000/tonne of tantalite concentrate 

(based on 100% Ta2O5). Payment is to be immediately upon both parties agreeing to the amount and 

grade of the concentrate and receipt of product, with these terms very beneficial to the Company's cash 

flow position. The Company will continue to negotiate the final terms of the Offtake Agreement, which 

will take effect once the temporary health restriction measures are eased and full production achieved.  

Musasa Site Operations and COVID-19 

During the quarter under review numerous positive modifications have been completed on the wash 

plant, resulting in improved heavy mineral separation. This optimization has been aided by the 

recruitment of a Rwandan Process Manager, with previous experience in this style of mineral recovery 

and will continue. A review of the hydro-cyclone and spiral operations, together with improvements to 

the shaking table launder box capture system has significantly improved the quality of the capture pre-

concentrate. The large capacity water pump, ordered from the UK, arrived in late December and is ready 

for installation. This will ultimately allow for the completion of the commission phase and the 

commencement of full-time operations. 

 

On the 4th of January 2021, the Company was notified that new health measures have been put into 

place to contain the spread of the COVID-19 virus within Rwanda. These measures include the 

restricting of movement across district boundaries and staffing limitations for all private and public 

institutions. A review of the measures will be undertaken by the Cabinet on or around the 18th of January 

2021. Without the exclusion as an essential business, the measures significantly impact the Company's 

ability to fully restaff following the holiday season.  We continue to review and communicate with the 

relevant authorities to understand the situation and will update the market accordingly.  
 

Trading Update 

The Company is also pleased to announce that it received approximately £150,000 (or $200,000) of 

share subscription for cash and services from the issue of 11,604,934 new ordinary shares and 

11,604,934 3-pence warrants expiring in August 2024 by a new shareholder, and two existing 

shareholders. The shares were issued and admitted for trading by the 15th of January 2021. This capital 

is intended to allow for the Company to cover expenditure during the present COVID-19 lockdown until 

the start of operations.  
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Board Changes and Change of Adviser 

Eastinco announces on 1 February 2021, that, further to the announcement of 30 October 2020, Simon 

Rollason has been appointed as a director of the Company and Michael Staten has stepped down as 

director of the Company with immediate effect 

 

New Joint Venture for Critical Metals in Southern Rwanda 

Eastinco Mining and Exploration PLC ("EME" or the "Company") announced it has agreed terms and 

formally signed a new Joint Venture Agreement ("JV" or "Agreement") with a Rwandan entity ("JV 

Partner") to explore and develop mineral opportunities over an area covering 2,750 hectares in 

southern Rwanda on which the JV Partner holds a license for the exploration and development of 

tantalum, niobium, tin and tungsten metal resources. 

Under the terms of the Agreement, Eastinco will incorporate a new JV Company, Kinunga Mining Limited 

("KML" or "JVCo"), in Rwanda and hold 70% of the issued share capital in Kinunga, with the JV Partner 

holding 30% as a free-carried interest and entitled to Board representation on the new JV Company. 

This announcement contains information which, prior to its disclosure, was inside information as 

stipulated under Regulation 11 of the Market Abuse (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019/310 (as 

amended). 

 

New Joint Venture in Southern Rwanda  

In June the Company announced it had signed a new Joint Venture Agreement to explore and develop 

mineral opportunities over an area covering 2,750 hectares in southern Rwanda.  

The licence hosts at least two identified outcropping mineralised occurrences available for immediate 

geological evaluation. The main occurrence represents an approximately 30m wide, partially artisanally-

mined, and kaolinised pegmatite that strikes along an entire NW-SE trending ridgeline with a minimum 

extension of 650m. Additional extensions of at least 150m to the NW of the ridgeline have been 

confirmed during a due diligence site visit with an independent geologist. 

25. Market Abuse Regulation (MAR) Disclosure  

Certain information contained in this announcement would have been deemed inside information for the 

purposes of Article 7 of Regulation (EU) No 596/2014 until the release of this announcement.



EASTINCO MINING AND EXPLORATION PLC 

47 
 

 

 

 
Company Information 
 

The board of directors  C Bray  

S Retter 

D Marais  

M Staten (resigned 1 February 2021)   

S Rollason (appointed 14 June 2021)  
 

Company registration number 07496976 

  
  

Registered office  Finsgate 

 5-7 Cranwood Street  

 London 

 EC1V 9EE 
 
 

Auditor  Adler Shine LLP 

Chartered Accountants & 
Statutory Auditors 

 Aston House 

 London 

 N3 1LF 
 

AQSE Advisor  Novum Securities Limited  

 2nd Floor 

 Lansdowne House 

 57 Berkeley Square 

 London 

 W1J 6ER 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 


